1986

Jennifer Chapman, by and through her guardian,
Teresa Chapman, Robert Chapman, and Teresa
Chapman, individually v. Primary Children's
Hospital, a hospital organized to do business in the
State of Utah, et al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

IDENTITY OF PARTIES

Appellants: Jennifer Chapman (minor)

Teresa Chapman

Robert Chapman.

Respondents: PRIMARY CHILDREN'S HOSPITAL, a hospital
organized to do business in the State of Utah;

PRIMARY CHILDREN'S MEDICAL CENTER, a hospital
organized to do business in the State of Utah;

INTERMOUNTAIN HEALTH CARE, a Utah corporation
dba PRIMARY CHILDREN'S HOSPITAL;

IHC HOSPITALS, INC., a Utah corporation dba
PRIMARY CHILDREN'S HOSPITAL;

THE HEALTH SERVICES CORPORATION OF THE
CHURCH OF JESUS CHRIST OF LATTER-DAY SAINTS.
By order entered April 1, 1986, The District Court
redesignated the name of all of the above
Respondents as "I. H. C. Hospitals, Inc., a Utah
Corporation dba Primary Children's Medical Center,"
(R. at 283, infra at A-2.)

GARTH MEYERS, M. D.;

L. GEORGE VEASY, M. D., KAREN BOWMAN, R. N.

OTHER PARTY DEFENDANTS NOT INVOLVED IN THIS APPEAL

SCOTT WETZEL COMPANY, A Utah corporation;

THE HOME GROUP, INC., a foreign corporation;

JOHN DOE I-X; and

BLACK CORPORATIONS I-V.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Is the medical malpractice statute of limitations Utah Code Ann. §78-14-4, tolled during a continuing fiduciary relationship between a patient and a health care provider.

2. Was it error for the trial court to grant summary judgment based upon the medical malpractice statute of limitations where there was a material issue of fact as to whether the plaintiffs-appellants (hereinafter sometimes "plaintiffs") were aware of the plaintiffs' "legal injury" within the period of the statute of limitations.

3. Was it error for the trial court to grant summary judgment where there was evidence that the defendants-appellees (hereinafter sometimes "defendants") concealed and misrepresented the cause of plaintiffs injuries and where, by reason of such conduct, the plaintiffs claimed that the defendants were estopped from utilizing the statute of limitations as a defense.

4. Does the Utah medical malpractice statute of limitations U.C.A. §78-14-4 violate equal protection and due process provisions of the Utah Constitution and the Constitution of the United States.

5. Does the Utah medical malpractice statute of limitations U.C.A. §78-14-4 unconstitutionally deprive minor plaintiffs of access to the courts in violation of the Utah Constitution and the Constitution of the United States.

6. Was it reversible error for the trial court to deny all discovery rights to the plaintiffs prior to the summary judgment hearing and decision.

7. Was it reversible error for the trial court to grant defendant's motions for summary judgment when it was alleged that care giving rise to the plaintiffs claims had been rendered within the period of the statute of limitations.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants seek review of a ruling from the Third District Court, Salt Lake County, Utah, Judge Wilkinson presiding, which granted Appellees' motions for summary judgment and motions to dismiss based upon the statute of limitations in a medical malpractice action. (R. at 282-284, infra at A-2 through A-3) The presentation of arguments herein has been made considerably more difficult since the Court's order granting summary judgment did not make any specific rulings with respect to the many issues raised in this complex case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff-Appellant, Jennifer Chapman, (hereinafter sometimes "plaintiff") claims that she suffers from permanent and irreversible brain damage due to the negligence of the Defendants Primary Children's Hospital, Primary Children's Medical Center, Intermountain Health Care, IHC Hospitals, Inc., and The Health Services Corporation of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints (hereinafter sometimes collectively the "Hospital"). It is further claimed that she received substandard care thereafter from Drs. Veasy and Meyers (hereinafter sometimes the "Defendant Physicians") and the Hospital, who continued to provide what is alleged to be substandard medical care for Jennifer for several years after she received her brain injury. Plaintiffs also claimed that the defendants falsely misrepresented the cause of Jennifer's brain damage to them.

Plaintiffs submitted interrogatories to defendants and noticed the depositions of some of the defendants and their employees prior

to the Court's hearing upon the defendants motions, but the Court entered an order staying all of the plaintiffs' discovery and granted the motions of defendants for summary judgment before any discovery could be conducted. The following facts, are therefore gleaned from the affidavits of Jennifer Chapman's parents, Teresa and Robert Chapman which were filed in opposition to defendant's motions below. (R. 140-151, infra. A-5 through A-16)

Jennifer Chapman is now 13 years old and is severely brain damaged. She is permanently disabled, completely incompetent and wholly dependent upon others for all of her bodily functions.

During the first five months of her life, Jennifer experienced several "blue spells" for which she was taken to a hospital in Ogden, Utah for treatment. The doctors who had been treating her in Ogden then sent her to Dr. Veasy at the Primary Children's Hospital for specialized care. He diagnosed the illness as a heart problem which he attempted to stabilize with medication until an operation could be performed. An operation was subsequently performed to install a device called a Waterston shunt. The first shunt did not function properly and on February 28, 1973, a second operation was performed to alter the shunt. After surgery Jennifer recovered from the anesthesia and her family was permitted to visit with her. They observed that she was crying and awake, spent some time with her and left the room. After 10 to 15 minutes had passed, her mother returned to visit her again and found that a heart monitor machine attached to Jennifer had gone off and was sounding an alarm. The nurses in attendance told Mrs. Chapman that the alarm was caused by difficulties with the machine. Mrs. Chapman accepted this

explanation and the machine continued to send its alarm for 10 to 15 minutes before the nurses noticed that Jennifer was having a coronary arrest. Emergency resuscitative measures saved Jennifer's life, but her brain was permanently damaged.

Thereafter, Jennifer's parents asked the defendants about the cause of Jennifer's brain damage. These inquiries came while these defendants were still acting as physicians for Jennifer and while a (fiduciary) physician-health care provider/patient relationship existed. During this period, a relationship of considerable trust existed between the Chapmans and the defendants. The Chapmans were told by defendants that there were hospital records and tests which showed that Jennifer's injuries were due to blood clots and that her brain damage was unavoidable and could not be due to the negligence of anyone. Based upon these statements, Jennifer's parents believed that her injuries were in fact caused by blood clots, and were unavoidable. Furthermore, nothing was said to the Chapmans which would indicate that the nurses' statements to Mrs. Chapman that the heart monitor alarm was caused by difficulties with the machine were untrue¹.

Soon after Jennifer was injured suit was filed against the Ogden doctors who had treated Jennifer for the blue spells she had experienced during the first five months of her life. The Chapmans claimed that the Ogden physicians had waited too long to send Jennifer to Dr. Veasy for specialized care.

¹ The trial court was advised that plaintiffs needed further discovery to determine if these statements were false, but no such permission was granted. (R. at 155, 133, 196, 267, 280)

The Chapmans consulted with Defendant Veasy for his professional opinion as to whether the Ogden doctors had been negligent in failing to send Jennifer to him sooner. Dr. Veasy persuaded the plaintiffs that there had been no negligence on the part of the Ogden doctors, that Jennifer's brain damage was due to blood clots, and that it was unavoidable and unrelated to anyone's misconduct. Dr. Veasy recommended dismissal of the suit and Plaintiffs, in reliance of Dr. Veasy's statements to them, dismissed the suit against the Ogden physicians.

After the dismissal of the Ogden case, the defendants continued to provide treatment to Jennifer Chapman and continued to represent to her parents that the medical records and tests showed that the cause of the injuries was blood clots and that Jennifer's brain damage was unavoidable. The Chapmans trusted and believed the defendants until the summer of 1984, when they for the first time were given the medical records which related to Jennifer's injuries. Contrary to the statements of the defendants, the medical records did not contain any test results which would indicate the true cause of the injuries and the records showed uncertainty as to the cause of the injuries. These records were therefore in direct conflict with the statements of Dr. Veasy who had continually represented to the Chapmans that all indications from tests and records showed that the injuries were the result of blood clots, that he "knew for a fact" that the blood clots had caused her injury, that this event was unavoidable and could have nothing to do with any negligence on the part of anyone. The Chapmans confronted Dr. Veasy with the hospital records and say, at this point, that he admitted that the

blood clots theory was only an assumption on his part and that no tests had been performed which corroborated this assumption. The Chapmans then immediately sought legal advice and a medical opinion concerning the care provided by the defendants. In January of 1985, the Chapmans discovered that in the opinion of a consulting physician, the actual cause of Jennifer's injuries was the negligence of the Hospital's nurses who had failed to recognize Jennifer's critical condition and that the brain injuries she sustained were due to a lack of oxygen, not blood clot, as they had been previously told. Plaintiffs thereafter filed a claim pursuant to the applicable Utah statutes and this lawsuit followed.

Defendants claimed that Jennifer's father, Robert Chapman, was aware of their possible negligence as early as 1973 and provided a letter from Mr. Chapman to Dr. Veasy to substantiate their claim (Ex. 65-72, infra. A-17 through A-24). However, when this letter was written the Chapmans believed the Ogden physicians to have been at fault for failing to refer Jennifer to Dr. Veasy at an earlier time. The letter referred to what the Chapmans believed to be the negligent acts of the Ogden physicians -- not the defendants in this case -- as implied by the defendants in their argument. At the time this letter was written, the Chapmans had been persuaded by Dr. Veasy that Jennifer's injuries were due to blood clots and were unavoidable. Dr. Veasy then set about convincing the Chapmans that they should drop their claim against the Ogden physicians. This effort was successful and the claim was voluntarily dismissed. Defendants now take the

⁵ See Robert Chapman Affidavit Paragraph 4 (R- at 142, infra. A-7)

somewhat inconsistent position that Jennifer's "legal injury" was obvious all along.

Defendants sought summary judgment, claiming that the Utah Medical Malpractice Statute of Limitations barred the medical malpractice claims asserted by plaintiffs. In the Lower Court the defendants did not address the question of their negligence and limited their motion solely to the statute of limitations. Furthermore, defendants focused upon a single act of negligence which occurred in February, 1973. No mention was made by the defendants or the trial court in its order dismissing the case of the fact that the plaintiffs claimed that the defendants' negligence in the care of Jennifer Chapman was ongoing, at least until March or April, 1985.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The court below granted summary judgment when there were material questions of fact on the question of whether the statute of limitations had run in this case. The trial court completely foreclosed discovery over the objections of plaintiffs. Notwithstanding the inability of plaintiffs to obtain crucial information, they demonstrated by affidavits that there were material questions as to whether the defendants had hidden information from them and whether false information had been given to them concerning the cause of the plaintiff's injuries.

These questions of fact created genuine legal issues as to whether the plaintiffs knew of the "legal cause" of the plaintiffs injuries at a time which would have caused the statute of limitations

to run as contended by the defendants and whether the defendants were estopped to raise the running of the statute of limitations as a defense. In addition, the trial court granted summary judgment on the specificity with which the plaintiffs pled the fraud issue when this issue was properly pled and placed into issue by plaintiffs. The trial court also granted summary judgment upon the question of whether care provided by the defendants within the period of the statute of limitations was negligently done. This judgment was granted in the face of the unrefuted allegation that the defendants care was ongoing after the initial act of negligence (at least until early 1985) and that the ongoing care was negligently rendered. Under such circumstances the plaintiffs were entitled to have a jury decide the question of whether the continuing care given by the defendants was substandard and whether injury resulted from it.

The plaintiffs next contend that the Utah Medical Malpractice Statute of Limitations is unconstitutional. This statute denies minors like Jennifer Chapman the equal protection of the laws, due process and access to the courts. This court has held that statutes which deny minors the equal protection of the laws, due process or access to the courts are unconstitutional. The medical malpractice statute of limitations attempts to do just that, and is unconstitutional.

This court should reverse the summary judgment in behalf of defendants entered by Judge Wilkinson below, and Order that the matter proceed to trial.

ARGUMENT

I. PLAINTIFF'S CAUSE OF ACTION IS NOT BARRED BY § 78-14-4 UTAH CODE ANNOTATED (STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS).

In this case, as in others where the statute of limitations may be applicable as an affirmative defense, the courts have placed a heavy burden on the party asserting the defense. In such cases, "(T)he party pleading the statute of limitations has the burden of proving that the action is barred...." Garland v. True Temper Corporation, 354 F.Supp. 328, 330 (D.C.W.Va.1973). See Also, Ray v. Oklahoma Furniture Mfg. Co., d170 Okl. 414, 40 P.2d 663 (1935); Savannah Bank & Trust Co. v. Meldrim, 195 Ga. 765, 25 S.E.2d 567 (1943); Wahl v. Cunningham 320 Mo. 57, 6 S.W.2d 576 (1928). Similarly, Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 8 (c) makes the statute of limitations an affirmative defense.

Furthermore, since the defendants seek summary judgment, all facts and the inferences to be drawn from them must be given the interpretation most favorable to the plaintiffs. Therefore, the facts set forth in the plaintiffs' statement of facts (supra) must, for purposes of the motions in question here be taken as true since they are supported by the affidavits of Robert and Teresa Chapman and are not conclusively refuted by any evidence submitted by the defendants. Utilizing these facts the plaintiffs submitted to the trial court³ a list of both the undisputed facts and the disputed facts

³ See P. 7 and 8 of plaintiffs' memorandum in opposition to defendants' motions for summary judgment (R. at 158-159)

which were gleaned from the record before the trial court. They follow:

Undisputed facts;

1. For the first five months of her life, Jennifer Chapman experienced several blue spells for which she was taken to a hospital in Ogden, Utah for treatment.

2. When Jennifer was approximately five months old, the doctors who had been treating her in Ogden sent her to Dr. Veasy at the Primary Children's Hospital for specialized care.

3. Dr. Veasy examined Jennifer and diagnosed the illness as a heart problem which he attempted to stabilize with medications until an operation could be performed. An operation to install a device called a Waterston shunt was subsequently performed. The first device did not function properly and on February 28, 1973, a second operation was performed to alter the shunt.

4. Jennifer suffered severe and permanently disabling brain injuries while she was in the recovery room after the second operation.

5. Since February 28, 1973, the Chapmans and Jennifer maintained a continuing doctor-patient relationship with Dr. Veasy and the Hospital which lasted until approximately March or April 1985. A doctor-patient relationship between the Chapmans and Jennifer existed with Dr. Meyers until approximately June, 1983. During these periods Jennifer received treatment for her brain damaged condition and its complications from these defendants.

Disputed facts⁴:

1. Whether the defendants named herein told the Chapmans that there were hospital records and tests which showed that Jennifer's injuries were due to blood clots and that her brain damage was unavoidable and could not be due to the negligence of anyone and whether anything was said to the Chapmans which would indicate that the nurses statements to Mrs. Chapman that the heart monitor alarm was caused by difficulties with the machine were untrue.

2. Whether the Chapmans relied on the assurances of the defendants and believed that there were tests and records of the Hospital which showed that Jennifer's injuries were in fact caused by blood clots, were unavoidable, and could not have been caused by any misconduct of the hospital employees or referring physicians and whether they believed Dr. Veasy's assurances to be true.

3. Whether prior to July, 1984 the Chapmans believed the explanations of defendants as to the cause of Jennifer's injuries and whether at or about that time Dr. Veasy changed or altered his statements to the Chapmans on that subject.

4. Whether prior to January, 1985 the Chapmans had no medical evidence that the actual cause of Jennifer's injuries was due to the negligence of the Hospital's employees and was caused by a lack of oxygen and not blood clots as they had previously been told by the defendants.

⁴ Plaintiff pointed out to the trial court that many of these facts have not been mentioned by defendants in their affidavits. Plaintiff therefore observed the these facts must be deemed to be uncontroverted for purposes of the motions and that the facts were placed under the heading of "disputed facts" since Dr. Veasy's affidavit maked the unsubstantiated assumption that "... I know and state that continuously since 1973 they (the Chapmans) have believed ... that the episode ... in February 1973 was preventable and resulted from medical negligence by those who attended her." (Veasy affidavit P. 3. (R. at 159, R. at 108)

A. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IS TOLLED DURING A CONTINUING FIDUCIARY RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PATIENT AND PHYSICIAN.

It is well established in Utah that the statute of limitations for a medical malpractice action does not begin to run until the physician-patient relationship between the physician or health care provider and the patient has been terminated. Peteler v. Robison, 17 P.2d 244, 248 (Utah 1932). Under Utah law, the existence of the continuing physician-patient fiduciary relationship tolls the statute of limitations for medical negligence until that relationship is terminated. Peteler at 248. Utah's rule tolling the statute of limitations during the existence of this fiduciary relationship is in line with the majority of jurisdictions which hold that the statute of limitations does not begin to run until the physician-patient relationship terminates. 61 Am.Jur. 2d, Physicians and Surgeons §185 p.312, Schmit v. Esser, 183 Minn. 354, 236 N.W. 622 (1931); Hotelling v. Walther, 169 Or. 559, 130 P.2d 944 (1942); Grazor v. Osborne, 57 Tenn. App. 10, 414 S.W.2d 118 (1966); Ealy v. Sheppeck, 100 N.M.250, 669 P.2d 259 (1983); Sanchez v. South Hoover Hospital, 132 Cal.Rptr. 657, 553 P.2d 1129 (1976).

The Supreme Court of Washington also followed this rule in Samuelson v. Freeman, 454 P.2d 406 (Wash. 1969)⁵. That Court summarized its holding as follows:

"In construing the statute of limitations concerning medical malpractice, we think it a sound rule that, if

⁵ Washington's Supreme Court has restated this rule in the subsequent case of Bixler v. Bowman, 94 Wash.2d 146, 614 P.2d 1290 (1980)

malpractice is claimed during a continuous and substantially uninterrupted course of treatment for that particular illness or condition, the statute does not begin to run until the treatment for that particular illness or condition has been terminated." (citations omitted) Id. at 410.

Since it was uncontested that the defendants and the Chapmans maintained physician-patient relationships with Dr. Veasy and the Hospital until March or April, 1985⁶ this fact should have been dispositive below since the statute of limitations under such circumstances would not begin to run until March or April, 1985, and since this case was filed well within the period of the statute of limitations.

B. THE DEFENDANTS MISREPRESENTED THE CAUSE OF THE PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES AND THE PLAINTIFF'S FAMILY DID NOT KNOW OF JENNIFER CHAPMAN'S "LEGAL INJURY" UNTIL JULY OF 1984 AND THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DID NOT COMMENCE RUNNING UNTIL THAT TIME.

The defendants relied principally on Section 78-14-4(1)(b) in their attempt to establish that the statute of limitations had run. A portion of that statute provides:

In an action where it is alleged that a patient has been prevented from discovering misconduct on the part of a health care provider because that health care provider has affirmatively acted to fraudulently conceal the alleged misconduct, the claim shall be barred unless commenced within one year after the plaintiff or patient discovers, or through the use of reasonable diligence, should have discovered the fraudulent concealment, whichever first occurs. (emphasis ours) (The "Utah Health Care Malpractice Act" is reproduced as

⁶ Robert Chapman affidavit, paragraph 10. (R. at 144, infra at A-9)

A-25 through A-33 with supplements reproduced as A-34 through A-41)

In Foil v. Ballinger, this Court held that the statute of limitations in medical malpractice actions begins to run when the injured person knows or should know that he has suffered a "legal injury." This Court held that a person has discovered his "legal injury" when "he knew or should have known that he had sustained an injury and that the injury was caused by negligent action." (emphasis ours) Id. at 148. The Federal District Court has followed the Foil rule in Hargett v. Limberg, 598 F.Supp. 152 (D.C. Utah 1984) in which the Court held:

"Under Foil, and its progeny, a legal determination of negligence is not necessary to start the statute of limitations. Rather, the crucial question is whether the plaintiff was aware of the facts that would lead a reasonable person to conclude that he may have a cause of action against the health care provider." (citations omitted) (emphasis in original) Id. at 155.

This Court's statement in Foil seems appropriate here:

"[W]hen injuries are suffered that have been caused by an unknown act of negligence by an expert, the law ought not to be construed to destroy a right of action before a person even becomes aware of the existence of that right." Id. at 147.

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