1986

Spears v. Sartori : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I

Appellant contends that the Trial Court prohibited him from presenting evidence on the parties' Stipulation as to payment of medical and dental expenses, and further, that he was prohibited from cross-examining Plaintiff as regards her current employment and financial situation. As a review of the record reveals, there was no prohibition, limitation, or other restriction on Appellant's counsel presenting his case or questioning witnesses. Rather, counsel made no objection during trial to any such limitations and has thus lost the right to raise these matters on appeal. Further, the Court's ruling to interpret the language of the parties' Divorce Decree referring to payment of medical obligations, which the Court determined as a matter of law also included dental and orthodontic expenses, is within the sound discretion of the Trial Court and was based on competent evidence and supported by law.

II

Appellant further argues that the Trial Court abused its discretion in raising Appellant's child support obligation to \$250.00 per month "without any evidence other than Defendant-Respondent's increased income". There was in fact ample and sub-

stantial evidence in the record of Respondent's lack of income and greater child-rearing expenses to support the increase in child support as directed by the Court. A significant body of case law supports the Court's action which was also guided by concepts of equity and fairness.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN RULING THAT DIVORCE DECREE PROVISIONS REFERRING TO "MEDICAL EXPENSES" ALSO INCLUDED DENTAL AND ORTHODONTIC EXPENSES IN THIS CASE.

A. The Court Had Significant Evidence and Equitable Power to Support its Ruling.

The long-recognized standard of appellate review permits reversal of a Trial Court only when the evidence clearly preponderates to the contrary or where the trial Court has abused its discretion or misapplied principles of law. Gill v. Gill, 719 P.2d 779 (Utah 1986); Wiese v. Wiese, 699 P.2d 700 (Utah 1985); Fletcher v. Fletcher, 615 P.2d 1218 (Utah 1980). All of the available facts and evidence on the issue of whether these parties' intended the phrase "medical obligations" in the Divorce Decree to also include dental, orthodontic and similar obligations was before the Court. The Court explicitly referred to this evidence both at the beginning and close of the trial stating that it had read the Complaint, Decree and Stipulation of the parties and was of the opinion that both medical and dental expenses were meant to be included as health care costs and were

directed to be paid by Defendant-Appellant Henry Earl Sartori. (R. 145, 225). There was also directly conflicting testimony elicited by both parties as to what was intended by the phrase "medical obligations". (R. 147, 212). Appellant's counsel called no other witnesses on the interpretation of this point and the Court thus had before it all factual evidence on the parties' intent. Accordingly, the Court was in a position to then apply its equitable powers and rules of construction to interpret the Divorce Decree. The Court ruled that both medical and dental expenses were included as health care to be paid by Appellant on behalf of the minor children.

The Court's reasoning is expressed as follows:

"I am of the opinion that I heretofore stated that the medical and dental is included as health care and it is not conceivable that a parent would be required to pay the medical expenses out of the \$100.00 per month and try to raise children on that amount....but from 1975 to 1986, 11 years, [child support] has not increased. So, it appears to be only fair that the medical will be paid, and particularly the orthodontic will be paid by you, Mr. Sartori. I feel very strongly about that. That is a health care problem that they had..." (R. 225-226).

This is a strong and clear articulation by the Trial Court that in the Court's view, the child support level was too low to be intended to include payment by Mrs. Spears of the minor children's health care expenses. A clear sense of manifest injustice at the situation of Appellant's inadequate contribution to his children's needs is also apparent and important to this ruling.

B. Appellant Failed to Timely Object or Proffer

Evidence at Trial. In his Brief, Appellant argues that the trial court limited his case presentation on the issue of medical/dental reimbursement. A careful examination of the trial transcript reveals no attempts by Appellant's counsel to proffer evidence on this point or to present relevant witnesses. Instead, Appellant makes bold statements in his Brief that the evidence on this point "would have included a comparison between the divorce Complaint, the Stipulation, Defendant's testimony and also the testimony of Defendant's divorce attorney". Without an appropriate and timely objection or proffer at the trial, Appellant cannot be allowed to accuse the Court of an abuse of discretion and of limiting his presentation when he in fact made no efforts to present other evidence or preserve his client's rights.

Appellant also tries to make us believe that he had some secret explanation for why he is only obligated to pay the medical expenses of the children and not the dental. A careful review of Appellant's Brief still preserves this secret as no basis, either factual or legal, is presented to argue against the trial court's ruling. The testimony on this point was in direct conflict and the documents which this Court and the Trial Court have to review shed no light on who, other than Mr. Sartori, Defendant-Appellant herein, is to be responsible for dental and other health care expenses of the children. Appellant cannot be

allowed to lay blame on the trial court for its own failure to present a case. Rather, the Court had before it all available evidence on the interpretation of the divorce Decree as to medical and dental expenditures and ruled in accordance with the law and equitable principles.

The Trial Court's ruling to include both medical and dental expenses in the Divorce Decree language which uses the general phrase "medical obligations" is supported by substantial evidence and legal precedent. In the case of Naylor v. Naylor, 700 P.2d 707 (Utah 1985), the Utah Supreme Court clarifies the extent of a Trial Court's broad equitable discretion, stating that it has the power to even "disregard stipulations or agreement of the parties in the first instance...and to thereafter modify such judgments when change of circumstances justifies it, regardless of attempts of the parties to control the matter by contract." 700 P.2d at 710. Thus, even if this Court had been convinced that the parties intended to stipulate differently, it still had the authority to override that stipulation in the interests of justice. An example of the Court's power in the area of medical expenses and insurance is presented in the case of Beardall v. Beardall, 629 P.2d 425 (Utah 1981). In that case, the Utah Supreme Court interpreted a Divorce Decree provision providing for Defendant's payment of medical and dental expenses of minor children whose custody was awarded to plaintiff. Plaintiff brought a proceeding to enforce this provision and also

requested reimbursement for the medical insurance premiums expended by her over the years on behalf of the minor children in her custody. The Utah Supreme Court affirmed the Trial Court's reimbursement of these premiums stating that the premiums were actually a necessary medical expense incurred for the children. Similarly, the Court here has found that the orthodontic expenditures were medically necessary procedures and thus could conceivably be awarded under the explicit provision in the Divorce Decree that medical expenses be reimbursed by Appellant.

C. The Orthodontic Expense Was Medically Necessary.

It was also established at trial that the minor children's orthodontic work was medically necessary and thus unquestionably a payment Appellant should pay under the Decree. During the 11 years of divorce Mrs. Spears was essentially paying all of the health care costs of the minor children which included payment of \$3,700.00 for orthodontic bills. Mrs. Spears testified that these orthodontic expenses were for both of the minor children and were in fact medically necessary procedures. She testified that it was the childrens' pediatrician who referred them for orthodontic work and described the extreme dental condition of both children prior to this corrective work. She testified her son Henry could not close his mouth or chew his food and was the object of frequent teasing as a result of his prominent teeth. She further testified that her son would gag at the dinner table because he could not chew properly and that it

also impaired his breathing. These conditions also existed with her daughter, Shannell, who had a distorted jawbone structure which prevented her chewing and breathing properly. (R. 165-168). Photographs and a statement from the orthodontist confirmed that these orthodontic expenses were not cosmetic procedures but, rather, were medically necessary and directly related to the childrens' health and well-being. The Court also made this finding. (R. 226.)

POINT II

IT WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO AWARD AN INCREASE IN CHILD SUPPORT ON THE BASIS OF A CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES.

The law is clear that a party seeking a modification of a Divorce Decree carries the burden of showing a substantial change in circumstances. Christensen v. Christensen, 628 P.2d 1297 (Utah 1981). This Court has further emphasized that in matters concerning child custody and the support of children, because of their highly equitable nature, that it is appropriate for the Trial Court to take into consideration the entire circumstances of the case and make "any adjustment" which the Trial Court "may think fair and justified using equitable powers". Lord v. Shaw, 682 P.2d 853 (Utah 1984).

It is unclear whether Appellant is arguing that the threshold burden of changed circumstances has or has not been established herein. Rather, there is only a generalized statement in Appellant's Brief that the Court was "without sufficient

information of the parties' circumstances upon which to base a modification of the Decree." (Appellant's Brief, page 8). Nevertheless, Appellant's main argument appears to again be a belief that the trial court restricted his case presentation and questioning of Plaintiff's circumstances. Once again, a thorough examination of the record fails to show any point where Appellant's attorney was "prohibited" from questioning or where a proffer of evidence or additional witnesses was made. It is accurate that at one point Respondent's counsel's objection to questioning was sustained by the Court where Mrs. Spears was being questioned on purchases her present husband made. (R. 196). The Court explained its ruling indicating that it was the parties he was concerned with and their change of circumstances, not their spouses. This ruling has a firm basis in Utah law and was dealt with by the Supreme Court in the matter of Kiesel v. Kiesel, 619 P.2d 1374 (Utah 1980). In that appeal the Court faced the issue of whether income earned by a party's new spouse was properly considered in a modification proceeding. The Court stated as follows:

"While it is true that a stranger to a divorce action should not be constrained, by reason of marriage, to lend financial support to his or her spouse's children by a prior marriage, the Court is not precluded from taking such circumstances into consideration in determining the ability of one who does have the legal obligation of support."

619 P.2d at 1376.

In this passage, the Supreme Court is expressing the traditional "deference to the judgment of the trial court due to its advan-

taged position". Openshaw v. Openshaw, 639 P.2d at 178 (Utah 1981).

In facing issues presented by modification petitions, the Courts have wide latitude to review all the circumstances of the parties to determine whether sufficient changes have occurred warranting modification and also to determine what precise modification should be made. There is no dogmatic checklist for Courts to follow to assess the circumstances in every case. In the case of Owen v. Owen, 579 P.2d 911 (Utah 1978), this Court approved the Trial Court's emphasis on the needs of the children rather than the manner and standard of living desired by a parent as being the proper focus of an inquiry requesting increased child support. In the case of Wiker v. Wiker, 600 P.2d 514 (Utah 1978), this Court reviewed an increase in support in a situation of continued illness of the custodial mother, salary increases of the noncustodial father, and also cited the factors of inflationary trends and the lapse of time between awards as sufficient to uphold a Trial Court's increase in support. The Kiesel case presented very similar facts to the case at bar, namely, an increased income for the noncustodial father and increased medical expenses for the minor children which this Court found was sufficient evidence to support an increased support award. Similar facts to Respondents are also seen in Christiansen v. Christiansen, 667 P.2d 592 (Utah, 1983), where an increased support award was affirmed on a trial record showing only a non-

custodial father's increased income and increased expenses for the minor children's child care. Interestingly, Appellant quotes from this case to the effect that an increase in a husband's income does not "automatically" justify an increase in child support. No such "automatic" view is urged by Respondent, rather the facts of her situation present several well-established grounds to justify the child-support increase awarded by the court below.

In the instant case, Mr. Sartori admits that there was evidence of his substantially increased income from \$800.00 per month at the time of the divorce in 1975 to a gross annual income of over \$30,000.00 per year at the time of trial 11 years later. (R. 175.) Appellant also admits in his Brief that there was no evidence of any increased income for Mrs. Spears. (Appellant's Brief, page 8, line 16). There was also unquestionably evidence before the Court as to Mrs. Spears' increased expenses regarding the medical, dental and health care expenses of the minor children. These alone approximated \$6,000.00 during a nine-year period. She also testified to substantial extra costs for her son, Henry's special diet needs, and extra expenses (R. 163, 164, 176). An important factor in Respondent's situation, too, is the mere passage of time where 11 years of inflation has undercut the value of her 1975 \$100.00 per child support level. Respondent's unemployment and the prolonged financial hardship caused by meeting the burden of her children's substantial medical and den-